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Celesio at a glance

1st to 3rd
quarter 2012

1st to 3rd
quarter 2013

Change on a €
basis %

Change in local
currency %

€m
€m
€m
€m
€m
€m
€m
€m
€m
€m
€m
€
€
€m
€m
€m

16,696.8
1,830.1
1,829.1
395.1
434.7
282.2
334.0
157.4
235.9
80.2
150.7
0.45
0.87
160.3
– 318.2
– 232.7
29,058
2,232
141

15,991.1
1,746.2
1,745.9
399.3
406.9
303.3
312.0
197.6
206.4
126.2
132.1
0.71
0.75
117.0
– 16.5
33.3
28,668
2,176
131

– 4.2
– 4.6
– 4.5
1.1
– 6.4
7.5
– 6.6
25.6
– 12.5
57.3
– 12.3
56.4
– 14.2
– 27.0
94.8
/
/
/
/

– 2.1
– 1.4
– 1.4
5.3
– 2.5
12.3
– 2.5
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/

€m
€

– 262.7
– 1.54
1,780

– 5.4
– 0.03
/

98.0
98.0
/

€m
€m
%

7,928.7 ⁵
2,195.9 ⁵
27.7 ⁵
30,838
41,015
– 182.5
– 1.09

7,484.9 ⁴
2,199.7 ⁴
29.4 ⁴
28,668
38,886
120.8
0.68

– 5.6
0.2
/
/
/
/
/

/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
/
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KE Y FIG URE S OF THE CE LE S IO G ROUP

Continuing operations
Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)2)
EBIT
adjusted 1)2)
Profit before tax
adjusted 1)2)3)
Net profit/loss
adjusted 1)2)3)
Earnings per share (basic)
adjusted 1)2)3)
Net cash flow from operating activities
Net cash flow from investing activities
Free cash flow
Employees (full-time equivalents) 4)
Retail pharmacies 4)
Wholesale branches 4)
Discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
Earnings per share (basic)
Employees (full-time equivalents) 4)
Continuing and discontinued operations
Total assets
Equity
Equity ratio
Employees (full-time equivalents) 4)
Employees 4)
Net profit/loss
Earnings per share (basic)
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

€m
€

Adjusted for special effects from non-recurring expenses and income (including tax).
Adjusted in 2012 for special effects from revaluations pursuant to IFRS 5 as well as deconsolidation effects in 2013 (including tax).
The figures reported for 2012 are adjusted to eliminate special effects in the financial result (including tax).
Closing figures at the end of the reporting period.
Closing figures as of 31 December 2012.
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IN FORM ATION ON THE CE L ES IO S HARE

Share type
Share capital in € on 30/09/2013
ISIN code
German securities code
German stock exchange code
Indices (selection)

No-par value registered shares
217,728,000
DE000CLS1001
CLS 100
CLS1
MDAX, MSCI Germany Index,
FTSE4Good, ECPI Ethical Index EMU

The Celesio Group
Celesio is a leading international trading company and provider of logistics and
services in the pharmaceutical and healthcare sector. Our proactive and preventive
approach ensures that patients receive the products and support that they require
for optimum care.
With 39,000 employees, we operate in 14 countries around the world. Every
day, we serve over 2 million customers – at almost 2,200 pharmacies of our own
and 4,100 participants in our brand partnership schemes. With around 130
wholesale branches, we supply 65,000 pharmacies and hospitals every day with up
to 130,000 pharmaceutical products. Our services benefit a patient pool of about
15 million per day.
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Key events 2013

Q1
•
•
•
•

Group EBIT below previous-year level as expected
Competition and government measures burden earnings
Strategic alignment of growth initiatives on schedule
Guideline for full 2013 fiscal year confirmed

Q2
•
•
•
•

Group EBIT (adjusted) slightly below previous-year level as expected
Discounting competition, government intervention and currency effects
burden earnings
Guideline adjusted
Strategic alignment continued

Q3
•
•
•
•

Group EBIT (adjusted) slightly below previous-year level as expected
Discounting competition, government intervention and currency effects
burden earnings significantly
Significant progress achieved in strategic realignment and central
procurement activities
Adjusted guideline for full fiscal year confirmed

Q4
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To our shareholders
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Letter from the spokesperson of the
Management Board

DR MARION HELMES
SPOKESPERSON OF THE MANAGEMENT
BOARD
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The first nine months of the current 2013 fiscal year were eventful ones.
As expected, revenue and earnings were down slightly on the level of the
previous-year period as a result of currency and consolidation effects.
The ongoing fierce discounting competition in the German wholesale market
continues to burden earnings significantly. The negative conditions could only be
partly compensated for by implementing cost and efficiency measures. We assume
that the irrational discounting competition will continue until the end of the
current fiscal year at the very least.
Nevertheless, we made significant progress in the piloting of our European
network of pharmacies under the »Lloyds« brand. The implementation of the
Operational Excellence Program was similarly successful and our TIC (top-in-class)
procurement programme is resulting in additional cost savings.
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On the whole, we confirm the guidance adjusted mid-year and anticipate adjusted
EBIT of between € 405m and € 425m.
We are delighted to report on an important milestone in our company’s
history. The agreements entered into with US company McKesson announced on
24 October 2013 signal the beginning of an exciting new chapter for us. The planned
business combination focuses primarily on growth, thereby creating the basis for
long-term success, from which all of Celesio’s stakeholders will benefit. The
business combination will allow two market leaders with complementary
geographical activities to work together in an increasingly global market.
Both companies look back on some 180 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical
wholesale and pharmacy business. We also share the same corporate goals and
values.
We would like to take the opportunity to thank our shareholders, customers,
partners and, most of all, our employees for the trust they have placed in us. We
will work together to meet these expectations and look forward to the journey
that lies ahead.
SINCERELY YOURS,

DR MARION HELMES
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The stock markets and the Celesio share

The stock markets
The leading German stock market index, the DAX, trended upwards over the
first nine months of 2013. After a good start to the year, it passed the 8000-point
mark for the first time in mid-March. Uncertainties on the market, particularly on
account of the weaker economic figures and the sovereign debt crisis that came to
a head in Cyprus, led to a sustained slide that lasted until mid-April. Driven by
expansive fiscal policies of the central banks and the expectation that the global
economy would stabilise, the DAX picked up steam until the end of May. After a
short period of recovery, a sideways trend followed until September. The
announcement made by the ECB in September that money market rates would be
kept low to aid the economy helped boost the stock markets. On 19 September,
the DAX reached its all-time high of 8,694 points. The DAX closed the first nine
months of the year at 8,594 points. This represents a rise of 12.9% on the figure
posted at the end of 2012.
The MDAX, which includes the Celesio share in its basket, easily outperformed
the DAX in the first quarter. In the second quarter, the MDAX followed the largely
positive trend of the DAX. Following a clear upward trend, the MDAX was again able
to perform positively in the third quarter independent of the development of the
DAX. The MDAX closed the first nine months of 2013 at 15,034 points, an increase
of 26.2% on the close of 2012.
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The Celesio share
The Celesio share was extremely buoyant in the first nine months of 2013,
significantly outperforming both the MDAX and the DAX. After a volatile start to
the 2013 fiscal year, there was a temporary drop in price lasting until the beginning
of February, which was followed by a steady rise until the end of the first half year
and also buoyed by ongoing market speculation of a potential takeover. After a
temporary fall in the share price following the announcement of changes being
made to the Management Board, the share price was driven upward by renewed
market speculation. The Celesio share peaked at € 17.89 in June and closed the first
nine months of the year at € 16.64. This represents a rise of 27.6% on the end of
2012.
As of 30 September 2013, the market capitalisation of the company came to
€ 2.83bn (30 September 2012 € 2.36bn). The trading volume of our share on the
Xetra market averaged 448,763 shares per day in the reporting period. This
constitutes a rise of around 10.5% compared to 405,990 shares per day in the
same period of the previous year.
DEVELOPMENT OF THE CELESIO SHARE, DAX AND MDAX
CLOSING PRICES ON XETRA 02/01/2013 – 30/09/2013 (TRADING DAYS ONLY),
SCALED TO THE SHARE PRICE OF CELESIO AG
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Annual general meeting
Celesio AG’s annual general meeting was held in the Porsche Arena in Stuttgart
on 16 May 2013. With 67.1% of voting rights represented, attendance was below
the previous-year turnout of 75.1%.
All documents and information on the 2013 annual general meeting are
published at www.celesio.com/en/Investor_Relations/Annual_General_Meeting.

Dividend
The annual general meeting of Celesio AG passed a resolution to distribute a
dividend of € 0.30 per share for the 2012 fiscal year (previous year € 0.25). The
dividend was paid out on 17 May 2013. Thus, Celesio has continued its policy of
distributing approximately 30% of the net profit for the year adjusted for nonrecurring items that have no impact on cash.
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Investor relations
Our investor relations work sees us providing information in a transparent,
prompt and clear manner. At our annual analyst and investor conference in
March 2013 we reported on the 2012 fiscal year, Celesio’s strategy and the
programme for 2013. In addition, we entered into an intensive dialogue with the
capital markets in the first nine months of 2013 at conferences, roadshows and in
individual talks and meetings.
Further information on the company, the Celesio share, upcoming events and
publications can be found in the investor relations section at www.celesio.com.

KE Y S HARE FIG URE S

Shares outstanding 1)
Market capitalisation 1)
Closing price 1) 2)
High 2)
Low 2)
Average Xetra trading volume per day

million
€m
€
€
€
shares

1st to 3rd
quarter 2012

1st to 3rd
quarter 2013

170.1
2,361.0
13.88
15.65
10.88
405,990

170.1
2,830.5
16.64
17.89
13.05
448,763

1) Closing figures as of 30 September.
2) Xetra closing rate, source: Bloomberg.
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Economic environment

The first nine months of the 2013 fiscal year were shaped by a slight recovery
in the economic environment, which is expected to gain speed into the coming
year. In Europe, debt reduction, austerity measures and high unemployment
continue to curb economic development. However, political decision-makers
managed to defuse the main risks threatening the global economy in the short
term. Economically stable countries such as Germany and the United Kingdom are
also helping relieve the tense economic situation in Europe.
The US is currently experiencing an economic upswing, primarily attributable
to an improvement in the situation on the labour and real estate market, a fall in
the budget deficit and a continued upturn in the domestic economy. However, the
upswing will only be moderate due to ongoing spending cuts, higher taxes and a
relatively high unemployment rate.
A marked recovery in prices on the international financial market, better
conditions for obtaining financing and greater trust in the economy provided some
economic stimulus. The inflation rate fell slightly in the first nine months of 2013
compared to the previous-year period, amounting to 1.3% in the euro zone. A global
inflation rate of 2.3% is expected in the first nine months of 2013.
Emerging and developing economies are showing higher growth rates than the
developed economies. Recovery is continuing in these economies and is steadily
picking up pace as a result of renewed demand from the established markets.
Despite falling unemployment rates in the emerging and developing economies of
Latin America, inflation remains manageable due to the fall in food and energy
prices. After a moderate inflation rate of 5.4% in the previous year, inflation in
Brazil rose to 6.1% in 2013. However, according to experts, this looks set to drop
again to 4.7% in 2014.
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Market

The budgetary situation remains tense for many countries in Europe. The
austerity measures within the healthcare system introduced as a result are having
a negative impact on markets, especially in the United Kingdom. A similar
challenge is posed by the ongoing trend towards substitution of prescription drugs
with cheaper generics, especiallly in the French market. In particular, the ongoing
fierce discounting competition continues to have a negative effect on the German
market.

Revenue and earnings development

The massive pressure on prices in Germany had a major impact on Celesio in
the reporting period. Furthermore, the government measures introduced in the
United Kingdom since the beginning of October 2012 had a negative impact on
revenue and earnings trends in the reporting period. In addition, a higher number
of patents expired in 2012 which, for a short time in the previous-year period, had
led to higher margins at LloydsPharmacy. Currency effects also had an impact on
revenue and earnings trends. As in the first half year of 2013, these primarily
related to the Brazilian real and the pound sterling.
We disclose certain non-recurring expenses and income as a special effect in
earnings before interest, taxes and investment result (EBIT). In the reporting
period, there were additional special effects with an aggregate negative effect on
earnings, in particular for termination benefits, in connection with the
reorganisation of the Management Board and management structures in Germany
as well as the continued implementation of efficiency enhancement measures,
especially in Italy, totalling € 8.8m. In the previous year, special effects had an
impact on EBIT of € 51.8m. These items consist of income and expenses from the
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Operational Excellence Program of € 30.1m and revaluations required by IFRS 5 on
the prospective proceeds from the disposal of held-for-sale assets of the wholesale
business in the Czech Republic and Ireland of € 18.1m. The special effects in the
financial result relate to non-recurring items and, in particular, the settlement of
the outstanding purchase price instalment for the acquisition of the remaining
shares in Panpharma of € 26.7m.
In the 2012 fiscal year, Celesio had already opted to early adopt the revised
standard IAS 19 – Employee Benefits for the 2012 fiscal year in line with the
majority of its peers in order to record the full amount of its defined benefit
obligation in the statement of financial position. The previous year’s figures for the
2012 fiscal year were restated in the group income statement to allow comparison.
Unless stated otherwise, the following comments pertain to continuing
operations.
In the first nine months of 2013, group revenue decreased by 4.2% to
€ 15,991.1. The decrease in revenue is primarily due to the deconsolidation of the
Czech operations in November 2012 and the Irish wholesale business in May 2013.
Moreover, the trend seen in some countries towards substituting original products
with cheaper generics continued apace, which, particularly in France, was
attributable to a downward market trend. At the same time, exchange rate losses,
mainly related to the Brazilian real and the pound sterling, caused a fall of
€ 364.0m in revenue. Adjusted for currency effects, revenue decreased by 2.1%.
Further adjusted for consolidation effects, mainly due to the disposal of the
operations in the Czech Republic and Ireland, revenue increased by 0.5%.
Gross profit decreased by 4.6% to € 1,746.2m in the 2013 reporting period.
Compared to the gross profit for the first nine months of 2012 adjusted for special
effects, gross profit fell by 4.5% in the reporting period. At the same time, the
gross profit margin fell slightly from 11.0% to 10.9%. The fierce discounting
competition in the German wholesale business had a large negative impact on the
development of the gross margin. Furthermore, the government measures
introduced in the United Kingdom since the beginning of October 2012 continued
to impact the gross profit in the reporting period. These effects masked the
positive effects from our central procurement activities. Adjusted for currency
effects, gross profit fell by 1.4%.
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More detailed information on the development of gross profit in the first nine
months of 2013 is presented in the reports on the divisions, starting on  page 23.
Other income comes to € 151.6m and is 6.7% below the level of the previousyear period. In addition to currency effects and the deconsolidation of the Czech
operations and the Irish wholesale business, this is attributable to the higher
income from the disposal of pharmacies in the United Kingdom in the previousyear period. Other income adjusted for special effects fell by 7.0%. Adjusted for
currency effects, other income fell by 4.9%.
In the first nine months of 2013, other expenses fell by 10.0% to € 573.5m. In
the previous-year period, special effects of € 18.4m were adjusted. Other expenses
adjusted for special effects fell by 7.3%. Both currency effects and the
deconsolidation of the Czech operations and the Irish wholesale business
contributed to this decrease. Moreover, the savings measures introduced in the
course of the OEP strategic realignment also had a positive impact. There was a fall
in other expenses, in the United Kingdom in particular, but also at the group
holding company, largely due to consulting fees. Adjusted for currency effects,
other expenses dropped by 4.3%.
In the reporting period, personnel expenses dropped by 3.7% to € 925.0m.
Compared to the figure for the previous-year period, adjusted for special effects,
the fall amounts to 2.3%. In the reporting period, there were additional special
effects with a negative effect on earnings, in particular for termination benefits, in
connection with the continued implementation of efficiency enhancement
measures as well as the reorganisation of management structures within our
companies totalling € 8.7m. Currency effects and the deconsolidation of the Czech
operations as well as the Irish wholesale business are reflected in the fall in
personnel expenses in the first nine months of 2013. Furthermore, cost-saving
measures from the OEP, especially in the United Kingdom, were a major
contributor to this development. However, these positive effects were partly
cancelled out by the higher personnel expenses in Norway, due among other
things to a rise in pension costs, as well as inflation-related adjustments in Brazil.
Adjusted for currency effects, personnel expenses fell by 0.5%.

Celesio Interim Report, 1st to 3rd Quarter of 2013
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EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation and
investment result) rose by 1.1% to € 399.3m. Compared to the previous-year
period, which was adjusted to eliminate special effects, EBITDA fell by 6.4%. The
decrease in earnings is primarily shaped by the challenging environment on
account of the ongoing fierce discounting competition in the German wholesale
market. Furthermore, government measures, especially in the United Kingdom,
had a negative impact on this development. Exchange rate losses of € 16.7m had a
negative impact in the reporting period. Further adjusted for currency effects,
adjusted EBITDA fell by 2.5%.
Amortisation of non-current intangible assets and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment came to € 94.9m. It was primarily the deconsolidation effect
of the Czech operations and the Irish wholesale business as well as currency effects
that resulted in a 5.7% fall compared to the previous-year reporting period.
Adjusted for currency effects, amortisation and depreciation fell by 2.7%.
Smaller measures to optimise the portfolio in Sweden as well as IT
infrastructure in the United Kingdom that was no longer needed led to impairment
losses of € 1.1m during the reporting year. In the previous-year period, impairment
losses amounted to € 12.3m and were due to the OEP.
EBIT (earnings before interest, taxes and investment result) rose by 7.5% in the
reporting year to € 303.3m. EBIT adjusted for special effects decreased by 6.6%.
This decrease can be attributed to the effects described above. Further adjusted
for currency effects, the fall in adjusted EBIT comes to 2.5%.
At € 8.6m, the investment result was up 44.7% on the previous-year period.
The increase is primarily attributable to the positive development of our
investment in the Dutch company Brocacef Holding N.V.
The financial result – the balance of the individual items interest expense,
interest income and other financial result – improved by 12.7% to € – 114.3m.
Compared to the financial result for the previous period adjusted for special
effects, this was a drop of 9.8%. Adjustments in the previous period related to the
settlements made as well as unwinding the discount and currency effects in
connection with the purchase price liability for the purchase of the remaining
shares in Panpharma. The decrease in the adjusted financial result is primarily
attributable to currency effects.
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Earnings before taxes increased by 25.6% to € 197.6. Special effects of € 78.5m
had been incurred in the previous-year period. Compared to the profit before tax
reported in the first nine months of 2012, which was adjusted to eliminate special
effects, the decrease amounted to 12.5%.
At € 71.4m (previous-year period € 77.2m) the tax expense decreased by 7.4%
in the reporting period. This results in an effective tax rate of 36.1% (adjusted
36.0%) compared to 49.0% (adjusted 36.1%) in the previous-year period. This
decrease can be primarily attributed to tax-savings measures and a change in the
composition of margins at the individual national entities.
The net profit from continuing operations of € 126.2m is significantly above
the previous-year period of € 80.2m. Adjusted for special effects, the net profit
from continuing operations in 2012 came to € 150.7m. For Celesio’s continuing
operations, basic earnings per share amounted to € 0.71 compared to € 0.45 in the
first nine months of 2012.
The net loss from discontinued operations comes to € 5.4m compared to
€ 262.7m in the previous year. More information can be found in the section on
»Discontinued operations« on  page 30. As a result, the diluted earnings per share
for discontinued operations came to € – 0.03 per share compared to € – 1.54 in the
previous year.
Correspondingly, the net profit of the group came to € 120.8m compared to a
net loss of € 182.5m in the first nine months of 2012 (basic earnings per share of
€ 0.68 compared to € – 1.09 per share in the previous year).
G ROUP RE VE N UE BY COUN TRY

United Kingdom
France
Germany
Brazil
Norway
Austria
Other
Group
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1st to 3rd
quarter 2012
€m

1st to 3rd
quarter 2013
€m

3,438.1
4,867.9
2,994.0
1,433.6
855.8
812.7
2,294.7
16,696.8

3,344.1
4,671.3
3,121.6
1,347.0
884.4
814.7
1,808.0
15,991.1

Change on a € Change in local
basis
currency
%
%

– 2.7
– 4.0
4.3
– 6.0
3.3
0.2
– 21.2
– 4.2
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2.1
– 4.0
4.3
6.6
5.4
0.2
– 20.2
– 2.1
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1st to 3rd quarter 2013

1st to 3rd quarter 2012

RE VE N UE AN D E ARN ING S
DE VE L OPM EN T CE L ES IO
G ROUP

Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)2)
EBIT
adjusted 1)2)
Profit before tax
adjusted 1)2)3)
Net profit from continuing
operations
adjusted 1)2)3)
Net loss from
discontinued operations
Net profit/loss from
continuing and
discontinued operations

Change on a €
basis

Change in local
currency

€m

% of revenue

€m

% of revenue

%

%

16,696.8
1,830.1
1,829.1
395.1
434.7
282.2
334.0
157.4
235.9

100.0
11.0
11.0
2.4
2.6
1.7
2.0
0.9
1.4

15,991.1
1,746.2
1,745.9
399.3
406.9
303.3
312.0
197.6
206.4

100.0
10.9
10.9
2.5
2.5
1.9
2.0
1.2
1.3

– 4.2
– 4.6
– 4.5
1.1
– 6.4
7.5
– 6.6
25.6
– 12.5

– 2.1
– 1.4
– 1.4
5.3
– 2.5
12.3
– 2.5
/
/

80.2
150.7

0.5
0.9

126.2
132.1

0.8
0.8

57.3
– 12.3

/
/

– 262.7

– 1.6

– 5.4

0.0

98.0

/

– 182.5

– 1.1

120.8

0.8

/

/

1) Adjusted for special effects from non-recurring expenses and income (including tax).
2) Adjusted in 2012 for special effects from revaluations pursuant to IFRS 5 as well as deconsolidation effects in 2013 (including tax).
3) The figures reported for 2012 are adjusted to eliminate special effects in the financial result (including tax).
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Consumer Solutions

Effective as of the first quarter of 2013, the Patient and Consumer Solutions
segment was renamed Consumer Solutions.
In our Consumer Solutions division we cater to our patients and consumers by
providing prescription-only pharmaceuticals and a wide range of OTC products.
Customers in our pharmacies can also use the innovative medical services from our
wide portfolio. At the end of September 2013, the division had 2,176 retail
pharmacies of its own (previous year 2,232) in six countries.

Market
Public health policy decisions, particularly in the United Kingdom and Ireland,
and the related savings measures weighed heavily on the market in the first nine
months of 2013. Moreover, the trend towards substituting original products with
cheaper generics continues apace, also causing revenue from prescription
products to fall. There was also a trend towards longer prescription cycles,
especially in the United Kingdom, with an associated increase in package sizes. This
led to lower income from dispensing fees.

Revenue and earnings development
Consumer Solutions generated revenue of € 2,514.8m, which at 2.2% is down
slightly on the previous-year figure of € 2,571.0m. Currency effects, the
deconsolidation of the Czech operations and well as government measures had a
negative effect on revenue development in the reporting period. A positive
revenue effect was generated from the service agreements with hospitals and the
provision of pharmaceuticals to private homes (Evolution Homecare) in the United
Kingdom. Adjusted for currency effects, revenue actually increased by 1.3%.
Further adjusted for consolidation effects, mainly due to the disposal of the
operations in the Czech Republic, revenue rose by 2.5%.
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Gross profit fell by 4.2% in the reporting period to € 864.3m. Compared to the
gross profit for the previous year adjusted for special effects, this represents a drop
of 4.1%. The gross margin came to 34.4% compared to 35.1% in the previous-year
reporting period. The government measures in place in the United Kingdom since
the beginning of October 2012 continued to have a negative effect on the gross
margin. Increasingly longer prescription cycles and an associated increase in
package sizes led to lower dispensing fees, which had a direct impact on the
development of gross profit. In Ireland, the gross profit margin was up on the
previous year as a result of the increased substitution of original products with
generics. In addition to this, our central procurement activities made positive
contributions in numerous countries, although these were not enough to entirely
compensate for the negative factors described above. Further adjusted for
currency effects, gross profit fell by 0.8% compared to the previous-year reporting
period.
At € 188.8m, EBITDA in the reporting period was 6.7% below the level for the
first nine months of 2012. In the reporting period, there were additional special
effects with a negative effect on earnings, in particular for termination benefits, in
connection with the continued implementation of efficiency enhancement
measures within our companies totalling € 1.4m. Adjusted for special effects,
EBITDA for the first nine months of 2013 decreased by 9.3% compared to the
figure for the previous-year reporting period. Extensive savings measures,
particularly in personnel expenses and also other expenses, were unable to fully
compensate for the fall in gross profit in the first nine months. Exchange rate losses
of € 6.9m had a negative impact in the reporting period. Adjusted for currency
effects, EBITDA fell by 6.0%.
EBIT fell by 7.8% in the reporting period to € 142.0m. Adjusted for special
effects, EBIT fell by 11.3% compared to EBIT for the first nine months of 2013.
Once again, currency effects also impacted the development of EBIT. Adjusted for
these currency effects, adjusted EBIT fell by 7.9%.
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RE VE N UE AN D E ARN ING S
DE VE L OPM EN T CON S UME R
S OL UTION S

Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)
EBIT
adjusted 1)

1st to 3rd quarter 2012

Change on a €
basis

1st to 3rd quarter 2013

Change in local
currency

€m

% of revenue

€m

% of revenue

%

%

2,571.0
902.1
901.0
202.3
209.7
154.0
162.8

100.0
35.1
35.0
7.9
8.2
6.0
6.3

2,514.8
864.3
864.0
188.8
190.2
142.0
144.5

100.0
34.4
34.4
7.5
7.6
5.6
5.7

– 2.2
– 4.2
– 4.1
– 6.7
– 9.3
– 7.8
– 11.3

1.3
– 0.9
– 0.8
– 3.3
– 6.0
– 4.3
– 7.9

1) Adjusted for special effects from non-recurring expenses and income.

The United Kingdom remains the most important pharmacy market for
Celesio. With a share of 65.7% (previous-year reporting period 65.2%),
LloydsPharmacy is the strongest revenue stream for Consumer Solutions.
As expected, in the first nine months of 2013 government measures had a
particular impact on the pharmacy business in the United Kingdom.
LloydsPharmacy enjoyed a positive operating development in the reporting period.
The closer connection between pharmacy and wholesale business associated with
the new structure of the group was beginning to have an effect. In addition, the
top-in-class procurement (TIC) initiative and the OEP were major factors in making
further cost savings. However, it was not possible to fully offset the negative
impact of government intervention and the burden of exchange rate losses due to
the weakness of the pound sterling.
In Norway we recorded pleasing revenue growth, especially for OTC
pharmaceuticals. However, wage and salary increases as well as higher pension
costs resulted in an increase in personnel expenses which could not be fully offset
by the positive development in revenue in the reporting period.
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In Italy, we were equally pleased with the increase in revenue from OTC
products in the reporting period and were able to compensate for the decrease in
revenue from prescription pharmaceuticals. On account of the cost reductions, we
were able to generate a significant rise in earnings in comparison to the previousyear period.
In the first nine months of 2013, there were improvements to both revenue
and the gross profit margin in Sweden. On the one hand, a change in the product
mix combined with price increases made positive contributions. On the other
hand, cost savings were made thanks to the procurement association initiated with
several pharmacy chains in the previous year as well as restructuring measures
performed since the end of 2011. The rebranding process to the European
pharmacy concept was completed in Sweden at the end of the first half year of
2013.
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Pharmacy Solutions

Celesio bundles its wholesale activities with pharmaceutical products in its
Pharmacy Solutions division, providing pharmacists with the key products they
need for their business. Operating a total of 131 branches (previous-year reporting
period 141), Celesio’s subsidiaries are active in ten European countries and also in
Brazil.

Market
In Europe, cheaper generics are replacing original products at an increasing
rate. Coupled with an equally weak development in volumes, this is causing the
market to decline, in particular in France. The continuing fierce discounting
competition in the German market over the reporting period is also posing an
enormous challenge to the entire industry. By contrast, the Brazilian market
continues to enjoy dynamic development.

Revenue and earnings development
The revenue generated by the Pharmacy Solutions division was € 13,476.5m
down on the previous-year period, a fall of 4.6%. In France, the market contracted
on account of the substitution of patent-protected medicines with generics.
Furthermore, the deconsolidation of the Czech operations in November 2012 and
the Irish wholesale business in May 2013 had a negative impact on business
development in the reporting period, as did currency effects. Germany, however,
managed to record an increase in revenue. Adjusted for currency effects, revenue
fell by 2.7%. Once the effects of the deconsolidation of the Irish and Czech
operations are also eliminated, revenue increased by 0.1%.
Gross profit fell by 5.0% in the reporting period to € 881.9m. No adjustments
were made in the two reporting periods. The gross margin came to 6.5% compared
to 6.6% in the previous-year period. Margin development was largely impacted by
the ongoing fierce discounting competition in Germany. By contrast, the gross
profit margin improved in the United Kingdom on account of a change in the
product mix and the rising sales of higher-margin generics. In Brazil, price
adjustments led to an improvement in the gross profit margin. The positive results
in the United Kingdom, Brazil and the company-wide activities of central
procurement were unable to fully compensate for the negative effects stemming
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from the ongoing fierce discounting competition in Germany. Adjusted for
currency effects, gross profit fell by 1.9%.
EBITDA generated by the division amounted to € 272.5m, a rise of 2.5% on the
previous-year period. In the first nine months of 2012, adjustments of € 27.5m
were made. In the reporting period, there were additional special effects with a
negative effect on earnings, in particular for termination benefits, in connection
with the continued implementation of efficiency enhancement measures as well as
the reorganisation of management structures within our companies totalling
€ 2.3m. Adjusted EBITDA fell by 6.4% in comparison to the previous-year period. It
was not possible to fully offset the difficult market and, in particular, the negative
effects of the above mentioned discounting competition in Germany by means of
cost savings, both in personnel expenses as well as other expenses. Currency
effects of € 9.8m were incurred in the reporting period. Considered in local
currencies, adjusted EBITDA fell by 3.0%.
At € 232.7m, EBIT was up 9.3% on the previous-year period. In comparison to
the adjusted EBIT reported in the previous-year period, adjusted EBIT for the first
nine months of 2013 fell by 5.4%. Further adjusted for exchange rate losses,
adjusted EBIT fell by 2.0%.
RE VE N UE AN D E ARN ING S
PHARM ACY S OL UTION S

Revenue
Gross profit
adjusted 1)
EBITDA
adjusted 1)2)
EBIT
adjusted 1)2)

1st to 3rd quarter 2012
€m

% of revenue

€m

% of revenue

Change on a €
basis
%

Change in local
currency
%

14,127.2
928.0
928.0
265.9
293.4
212.9
248.4

100.0
6.6
6.6
1.9
2.1
1.5
1.8

13,476.5
881.9
881.9
272.5
274.8
232.7
235.0

100.0
6.5
6.5
2.0
2.0
1.7
1.7

– 4.6
– 5.0
– 5.0
2.5
– 6.4
9.3
– 5.4

– 2.7
– 1.9
– 1.9
6.2
– 3.0
13.2
– 2.0

1st to 3rd quarter 2013

1) Adjusted for special effects from non-recurring expenses and income.
2) Adjusted in 2012 for special effects from revaluations pursuant to IFRS 5 as well as deconsolidation effects in 2013 (including tax).
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In France the increasing rate of prescription of generics had a negative impact
on prices in the reporting period. In addition to this, the sales volume in the
current fiscal year was weak. These negative effects were offset by systematically
implementing measures to stabilise earnings.
Despite solid market growth, the ongoing fierce discounting competition in
Germany had a serious impact on earnings. This poses an enormous challenge to
the entire industry.
In the United Kingdom, we were able to generate considerable cost savings in
the AAH wholesale business. In addition, margins improved on account of a
favourable product mix. Overall, this resulted in a pleasing increase in earnings for
AAH.
Our activities in Brazil generated revenue growth in the first nine months of
2013. Earnings increased in comparison to the previous-year period.
Rudolf Spiegel, the mail-order company for pharmacy equipment, was sold in
the reporting year. This did not have a material impact on the assets position,
financial position and earnings of Celesio.
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Discontinued operations

In the 2012 fiscal year, Celesio decided to initiate the sales process for a
number of companies and activities that no longer constitute the company’s core
business. This was done as part of Celesio’s strategic realignment.
This realignment saw Celesio sell the business units Movianto and Pharmexx as
well as the mail-order pharmacy DocMorris (including the brand) in 2012.
On 30 April 2013, the Irish antitrust authorities fully and unconditionally
approved the acquisition of Cahill May Roberts Ltd. by Uniphar plc. The transaction
was closed on 15 May 2013, marking the successful conclusion of Celesio’s
divestiture programme.
The net loss from discontinued operations came to € 5.4m in the first nine
months of 2013 compared to a net loss of € 262.7m in the previous-year period.
The result in the previous-year period was burdened by the impairment losses of
€ 47.0m recorded on the shares in Pharmexx, € 61.1m on Movianto and € 150.0m
on the DocMorris mail-order pharmacy and the brand.
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Financial position

The net cash flow from operating activities comes to € 117.0m for continuing
operations in the first nine months of 2013. This compares to cash flow of
€ 160.3m generated in the previous-year period. This development is primarily due
to changes in net working capital and changes in other liabilities. In both years, the
cut-off date had a negative effect on trade receivables in the United Kingdom. In
the previous year, this effect was almost entirely offset by the improvement in
receivables management in Germany. On the other hand, there had been a
decrease in trade payables in the previous year in connection with the cut-off date.
At € 5.2m, cash inflow from operating activities for discontinued operations
compares to a cash outflow of € – 12.0m in the previous year.
The net cash flow from investing activities for continuing operations amounted
to € – 16.5, compared to € – 318.2m in the previous year. In the previous-year
period, the cash outflow was mainly related to payments from taking over the
remaining 49.9% of the shares in Panpharma. This was counterbalanced by cash
received from purchase price receivables in the reporting period, in particular from
the sale of the Czech operations in the fourth quarter of 2012 and the cash
received from the sale of the wholesale business in Ireland. For discontinued
operations, net cash flow from investing activities came to € 11.8m, mainly due to
the purchase price payments received for the DocMorris mail-order pharmacy and
Movianto Ireland. In the previous year, net cash flow came to € 111.7m, in
particular from the sale of Movianto.
Free cash flow from continuing operations, i.e., the balance of net cash flow
from operating activities, net cash flow from investing activities and interest paid
and received, totalled € 33.3m in the reporting period compared to € – 232.7m in
the previous-year reporting period. This change resulted from the significant
payment for the acquisition of the remaining 49.9% of shares in Panpharma in the
previous period, and on the other hand by a lower cash inflow from operating
activities.
Cash outflow from financing activities amounted to € – 261.8m in the reporting
period compared to a cash outflow of € – 235.0m in the previous-year reporting
period. The cash outflow related exclusively to continuing operations in the
reporting period. In comparison to the previous-year period, cash inflow from
borrowing fell by € 334.0m, while cash outflow for the settlement of financial
liabilities fell by € 309.4m.
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Assets position

The Celesio Group had total assets of € 7,484.9m as of 30 September 2013, a
decrease of € 443.8m compared to 31 December 2012.
The gearing, which expresses the ratio of net financial debt to equity, came to
0.71 as of 30 September 2013, and thus matches the level of 31 December 2012.
Non-current assets decreased by a total of € 130.3m to € 3,049.6m compared
to the end of 2012. Of this amount, € 99.4m related to currency effects. This
decrease was also attributable to the amortisation of non-current intangible assets
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment of € 94.9m. Investments in
property, plant and equipment of € 52.1m and a non-current purchase price
receivable from the sale of the Irish wholesale business and Movianto Ireland of
€ 9.7m had the opposite effect.
Current assets came to € 4,435.3m as of 30 September 2013, a fall of € 313.5m
on 31 December 2012. Trade receivables rose by € 123.9m to € 2,220.0m, chiefly
on account of the collection of open-item payments from the NHS in the United
Kingdom after the reporting date. The decrease of € 100.3m in inventories to
€ 1,481.7m as of 30 September 2013 is largely on account of currency and cut-off
date effects. As of 30 September 2013, cash and cash equivalents came to
€ 373.8m compared to € 523.9m as of 31 December 2012. A number of disparate
trends were observed: In particular, the repayment of financial liabilities, dividend
distributions and cut-off effects were all factors that contributed to a decline
during the reporting period. By contrast, payments received in connection with the
sale of the DocMorris mail-order pharmacy and the operations in the Czech
Republic and the Irish wholesale business and Movianto Ireland had a positive
effect. As of 30 September 2013, other receivables and other assets decreased by
€ 80.2m to €327.5m. This was mainly due to the collection of receivables arising
from the sale of the DocMorris mail-order pharmacy and operations in the Czech
Republic. Cash and cash equivalents were also increased by a current purchase
price instalment of € 7.6m from the sale of the Irish wholesale business and
Movianto Ireland. As of 30 September 2013, the Celesio Group reported availablefor-sale assets of € 0.9m after the disposals of € 102.1m of held-for-sale assets
associated with the deconsolidation of the Irish wholesale business and Movianto
Ireland and property held for sale.
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Compared to the end of 2012, equity increased by € 3.8m to € 2,199.7m as of
the reporting date. This development was primarily due to the increase of € 55.9m
in the revenue reserve. On the other hand, there was a decrease of € 52.5m in
reserves contained in other comprehensive income. The development of the
currency translation reserve played the most significant role in this regard. The
equity ratio came to 29.4% as of 30 September 2013. This corresponds to an
increase of 1.7 percentage points compared to the end of December 2012.
Non-current liabilities decreased by an aggregated € 299.0m to € 2,080.1m.
The decrease includes a € 259.1m decrease in non-current financial liabilities to
€ 1,656.9m as of the reporting date, mainly due to reclassifications of current
financial liabilities to reflect the term to maturity as well as premature repayments
of non-current financial liabilities. In addition, pension provisions were reduced by
€ 50.9m to € 294.2m on account of pension payments as well as interest and
currency changes. On the other hand, there was an increase of € 19.8m in deferred
tax liabilities to € 58.6m.
Current liabilities came to € 3,205.1m as of the reporting date, down € 148.6m
on the close of 2012. Trade payables (€ 2,263.5m as of 30 September 2013
compared to € 2,325.0m on 31 December 2012) and other liabilities (€ 478.3m
compared to € 573.1m as of the end of 2012) were primarily influenced by cut-off
effects. On 30 September 2013 the group did not report any held-for-sale liabilities
after liabilities held for sale of € 76.6m were disposed of in the deconsolidation of
the Irish wholesale business and Movianto Ireland.
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Employees

As of 30 September 2013 the Celesio Group had 28,668 employees (full-time
equivalents) at its continuing operations, a fall of 1.3%. Consumer Solutions had
14,909 employees (30 September 2012 15,145) and Pharmacy Solutions 13,485
(30 September 2012 13,664). The remaining employees are allocable to the
functions performed by the holding company.

Changes to the Management Board
The Supervisory Board appointed Martin Fisher to the Management Board of
Celesio AG effective 16 September 2013. He is in charge of operations, which
consists of procurement, supply chain management, quality management and
regulation as well as IT.
The Supervisory Board dismissed Markus Pinger on 3 July 2013 with
immediate effect. Until further notice, Dr Marion Helmes will assume the role of
spokesperson of the Management Board of Celesio AG in addition to her function
as Chief Financial Officer.
On 18 September 2013, the Supervisory Board extended the contracts of
Management Board members Dr Marion Helmes and Stephan Borchert by five
years effective 1 October 2013.
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Subsequent events

On 24 October 2013, Dragonfly GmbH & Co. KGaA (the Bidder), a wholly
owned indirect subsidiary of McKesson Corp., San Francisco, USA, in accordance
with Sec. 10 (5) Sentence 2 WpÜG [“Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz”:
Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act], announced its decision to make a
takeover bid pursuant to Sec. 10 (1) in conjunction with Secs. 29 (1), (34) WpÜG to
the shareholders of Celesio AG, Stuttgart, at a price of € 23 per share. The decision
was published on 24 October 2013 in accordance with Sec. 10 (3) WpÜG.
Furthermore, the Bidder will submit public takeover bids to the holders of the
bonds issued by Celesio and will bid € 53,117.78 for every convertible bond that
falls due in October 2014 (ISIN DE 000A1AN5K5) with a nominal value of € 50,000
and € 120,798.32 for every convertible bond that falls due in April 2018 (ISIN DE
000A1GPH50) with a nominal value of € 100,000.
Under a share purchase agreement concluded between McKesson and Franz
Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Celesio’s majority shareholder, McKesson undertook to
acquire the investment in Celesio from Haniel. This amounts to 50.01% of the
shares currently issued by the company. The board of McKesson and the
Supervisory Board of Haniel approved the share purchase agreement. Haniel’s
share purchase as well as the acquisition/takeover bid are subject to certain
conditions, among which supervisory approval and a minimum acceptance
threshold of 75% of Celesio’s shares on a diluted basis, i.e., taking into account in
particular any convertible bonds of Celesio’s issued shares.
At the same time, McKesson Corp., San Francisco, USA, and Celesio AG
concluded a business combination agreement. With this agreement, McKesson
and Celesio aim to become one of the world’s leading integrated pharmaceutical
groups with a leading market position in America and Europe. The Management
Board and Supervisory Board of Celesio AG welcome the takeover bid and will
support it, subject to approval of the documentation. The members of the
Management Board intend to accept the takeover bid for the shares they hold in
Celesio.
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Outlook

Overall economic prospects
The International Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts global economic growth of
3.1% for 2013, lowering the original forecast growth rate of 3.3% for 2013. The
developed economies are expected to grow by 1.2% in 2013, the same growth rate
as in the previous year. For 2014, the IMF anticipates growth of 2.1%. In the euro
zone, the coming quarter is expected to record positive growth for the first time of
0.5%. This will be supported by forecast growth of 1.5% in Germany and 2.0% in
the United Kingdom. In light of the previously stagnating economic situation,
experts anticipate a slight recovery with a growth rate of 0.5% for France.
Following a long period of recession, the economy in the euro zone is now
expected to stabilise further.
In the emerging and developing economies, growth in gross domestic product
is considerably greater than in the developed economies, with growth of 5.0% and
5.4% expected in 2013 and 2014, respectively, as a result of the rise in demand
from established markets. Brazil, after reporting a mere 0.9% in growth in the
previous year, is expected to grow by 2.5% in 2013 and 3.2% in 2014.
Global inflation, which fell over the course of 2012 to 2.8%, is expected to fall
to 2.3% in 2013, only to rise again to 2.8% in 2014. In the euro zone, inflation is
expected to fall from 2.5% in the previous year to 1.7% in 2013 and then to 1.5% in
2014. At the same time, inflationary pressure is also expected to remain in the
emerging and developing economies. Consumer prices are likely to increase by
6.1% in Brazil in 2013.
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Business development
The following statements on future business developments and the
assumptions on the economic development of markets and sectors of the
economy are based on assumptions made by the Management Board. These are
founded on the information available which the Management Board currently
views as realistic. However, the future development of our divisions depends on
various factors beyond Celesio’s sphere of influence, which are difficult to forecast
with any accuracy. Such factors include, for example, the future development of
the economy and the regulatory environment as well as the business decisions
made by competitors and other market players. However, government
intervention in the health sector and social security systems also belong to key
external parameters of future development. Competition in Germany, which has
picked up again since the end of the 2012 fiscal year, is a critical factor and our
earnings forecast depends significantly on how this situation develops. The
following forecasts by the Management Board of Celesio AG are based on the
assumption that exchange rates, interest rates and the basis of consolidation will
remain stable compared to the first nine months of the year.
Consumer Solutions
With regard to Consumer Solutions, we expect earnings to fall below the
previous-year level over the full year. The earnings situation will be burdened by
provisions for future government measures in the United Kingdom.
Other positive effects from the continuation of the OEP initiative and the TIC
procurement programme and improvements to operations in the United Kingdom
will not be able to fully offset the impact of the government intervention.
In our opinion, the Norwegian market will continue to develop positively. In
particular, the share of OTC products will continue to rise. However, over the full
year, higher wage costs and pension expenses will place a burden on earnings.
The economic situation in Italy remains tense, especially with regard to the
health sector. However, our pharmacies were able to more than compensate for
the strain imposed by government measures through growth in the field of OTC
products. For this reason, we continue to forecast growth above the previous-year
level.
With regard to our Swedish activities, we expect a significant improvement in
earnings in a year-on-year comparison due to the success of the restructuring
measures.
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Pharmacy Solutions
In the Pharmacy Solutions division, the improvements to the wholesale
business and closer integration with the retail pharmacy business will more or less
offset the ongoing discounting competition in Germany and the contraction seen
in some European markets. We therefore assume that the earnings generated by
the wholesale pharmacy business will decline slightly over the full year 2013.
In France we expect earnings to increase slightly in the current fiscal year
despite the difficult environment. Improvements to cost structures should have a
positive impact on earnings.
The closer integration of AAH and LloydsPharmacy as well as the procurement
of generics will be reflected in a rise in the earnings of our wholesale business in
the United Kingdom.
As expected, wholesale business in Germany remains affected by fierce
discounting competition. In spite of the growth in the market as a whole, market
players are suffering from a drastic fall in margins due to the irrational nature of
the competition. For the full year the Management Board therefore forecasts a
massive fall in earnings at our wholesale subsidiary, GEHE, despite the
countermeasures that have been initiated.
We are forecasting further growth in Brazil. The improvements to operations
and the exploitation of the opportunities that arise on the Brazilian market are
expected to have a positive effect. For these reasons, we are forecasting an
improvement in earnings in local currency on the weak previous year.
We believe that there will be a noticeable improvement in our earnings in
Norway. A main factor in this development will be the reorganisation of the
warehouse in Oslo.

Investments and capital expenditures
In spite of the investments in the pilot pharmacies set up for the European
pharmacy network, we are forecasting capital expenditure in the 2013 fiscal year
to be below that of the previous year, with investments in the network of
pharmacies increasing in contrast to a lower level of IT investments and fewer
acquisitions.
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Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation in the 2013 fiscal year will remain at roughly
the same level as the previous year.

Financial result
We expect a significant improvement in the financial result in 2013 compared
to 2012. However, this is due to the negative special effects compared to the
previous-year period from unwinding the discount and settling the purchase price
liability for the purchase of the remaining shares in Panpharma of a total amount
of € 26.7m.

Tax rate
The group’s tax rate may be influenced by two major factors: a change in the
earnings mix returned by countries with varying tax rates, or a change in the
effective tax rates in each country. In addition, measures to reduce the tax burden
will have a positive effect on the group's effective tax rate. Due to the latest
developments in Germany the adjusted tax rate is now expected to match that of
2012, contrary to our expectations.

Employees
No further material decrease in headcount is expected for 2013.
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Risks and opportunities
We use our internal risk management system to identify, measure and track
opportunities and risks. The major opportunities and risks relevant to us are
described in detail from page 163 onwards of the 2012 annual report. The risks
and opportunities presented there essentially remain unchanged. The following
opportunities and risks are particularly relevant for the development of our
business and earnings in the 2013 fiscal year:
• The ongoing financial crisis in some European countries and the austerity
measures forced upon healthcare systems could have a negative effect on our
earnings.
• The healthcare sector with its constantly shifting parameters is a highly
dynamic market.
• Celesio’s line of business is an extremely competitive one. Activities of Celesio’s
competitors can also squeeze earnings. This is particularly visible in Germany.
• We are active in markets in which the compensation structures are highly
regulated. Any changes to these compensation structures could impact the
development of our earnings.
• As in the past, patent protection has recently run out or will do so over the
coming years on a number of blockbusters. Cheaper generics are winning a
greater share of the market. This will have a negative impact on our revenue
and, depending on the local reimbursement system, our earnings in the
medium term.
• Celesio is active in different currency areas. Significant exchange rate
fluctuations impact our earnings. Because a large proportion of our business is
in the United Kingdom, the pound sterling is of most relevance, followed by
the Norwegian krone and the Brazilian real.
• We consider changes in conditions on the healthcare market to be critical to
our success. They can also affect earnings. These include mergers between
pharmaceutical producers and exclusive distribution models in the wholesale
sector. Likewise, intensification in the competition with regard to logistics and
the isolated lifting of pharmacy-only sales restrictions for prescription products
are of great relevance to our business.
• The revenue we generated in the OTC (over-the-counter) sector could be
influenced by the economic cycle. The sector currently accounts for 20% of the
revenue generated by the Consumer Solutions division.
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Earnings forecast 2013
For Celesio, 2013 is all about our strategic realignment, which we will diligently
pursue. In particular, closer dovetailing between the pharmacy business and
wholesale as well as the impact on earnings from improvements to procurement
and from the OEP will continue to have a positive effect.
Our progress in the measures introduced, especially the cost-saving measures
in the area of personnel expenses and other expenses, are taking effect. However,
they could only partly compensate for the negative conditions, in particular the
ongoing discounting competition in Germany. From our current perspective, we
continue to expect that the discounting competition will not weaken in Germany
before the end of the year. The annual budget cuts in the United Kingdom’s
National Health Service (NHS) for the next two quarters announced in September
were lower than expected and ease the regulatory situation for 2013 slightly.
On the whole, the Management Board confirms the guideline amended midyear and anticipates adjusted EBIT of between € 405m and € 425m.
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Group income statement

3rd quarter

€m
Revenue
Cost of materials
Gross profit
Other income
Other expenses
Personnel expenses
EBITDA
Amortisation of non-current intangible assets and
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Impairment losses recorded on intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment
EBIT
Result from associates accounted for using the equity
method
Result from other investments
Interest expense
Interest income
Other financial result
Profit before tax from continuing operations
Income taxes
Net profit from continuing operations
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
Of which attributable to non-controlling interests
Of which attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG
Earnings per share – basic
Net profit from continuing operations
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
Earnings per share – diluted
Net profit from continuing operations
Net loss from discontinued operations
Net profit/loss
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1st to 3rd quarter

2012
5,445.7
–4,851.3
594.4
60.0
–194.8
–307.1
152.5

2013
5,258.1
–4,679.2
578.9
52.7
–189.3
–310.5
131.8

2012
16,696.8
–14,866.7
1,830.1
162.4
–637.1
–960.3
395.1

2013
15,991.1
–14,244.9
1,746.2
151.6
–573.5
–925.0
399.3

–34.3

–30.7

–100.6

–94.9

–12.0
106.2

–0.7
100.4

–12.3
282.2

–1.1
303.3

–0.6
1.6
–36.2
1.8
–2.6
70.2
–25.1
45.1
–49.2
–4.1
1.0
–5.1

1.9
1.3
–37.9
2.0
–5.8
61.9
–23.5
38.4
–3.0
35.4
0.6
34.8

1.3
4.6
–141.3
6.3
4.3
157.4
–77.2
80.2
–262.7
–182.5
2.9
–185.4

3.7
4.9
–109.2
5.8
–10.9
197.6
–71.4
126.2
–5.4
120.8
5.1
115.7

€
0.26
–0.29
–0.03
€
0.26
–0.29
–0.03

€
0.22
–0.02
0.20
€
0.22
–0.02
0.20

€
0.45
–1.54
–1.09
€
0.45
–1.54
–1.09

€
0.71
–0.03
0.68
€
0.70
–0.03
0.67
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Group statement of comprehensive income

3rd quarter

€m
Net profit/loss
Items that will not be recycled through profit or loss
Revaluation of defined benefit pension plans
Share in the revaluation of defined benefit pension plans
attributable to associates accounted for using the equity
method
Items that may subsequently be recycled through profit or
loss
Unrealised gains/losses from the current year
Gains/losses recycled through profit or loss
Unrealised gains/losses from marking available-for-sale
financial assets to market
Unrealised gains/losses from the current year
Gains/losses recycled through profit or loss
Unrealised gains/losses from derivative financial instruments
to hedge cash flows
Foreign currency translation posted directly to other
comprehensive income
Release to profit or loss due to loss of control
Exchange differences
Other comprehensive income after tax
from continuing operations
Of which attributable to non-controlling interests
Of which attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG
from discontinued operations1)
Comprehensive income
from continuing operations
Of which attributable to non-controlling interests
Of which attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG
from discontinued operations1)

1st to 3rd quarter

2012
–4.1

2013
35.4

2012
–182.5

2013
120.8

–14.5

16.2

–82.1

5.2

–1.6

0.0

–5.1

3.5

–0.1
0.1

0.0
0.0

–0.1
0.1

0.0
0.0

0.0
–2.6
2.9

0.0
–0.1
3.6

0.0
–7.5
9.6

0.0
2.0
8.5

0.3

3.5

2.1

10.5

8.0
–2.0
6.0
–9.8
–9.9
–0.5
–9.4
0.1
–13.9
35.2
0.5
34.7
–49.1

0.5
0.0
0.5
20.2
20.2
–1.4
21.6
0.0
55.6
58.6
–0.8
59.4
–3.0

20.1
–2.0
18.1
–67.0
–70.3
–2.3
–68.0
3.3
–249.5
9.9
0.6
9.3
–259.4

–84.0
0.0
–84.0
–64.8
–64.8
–3.5
–61.3
0.0
56.0
61.4
1.6
59.8
–5.4

1) All of which attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG.

Please refer to  page 75 of the selected explanatory notes for further
explanations on other comprehensive income.
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Group statement of financial position

31/12/2012

30/09/2013

€m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Associates accounted for using the equity method
Other financial assets
Other non-current assets
Income tax receivables
Deferred tax assets

3,179.9
2,297.2
529.7
71.7
98.0
69.9
2.3
111.1

3,049.6
2,209.3
500.0
77.2
108.5
51.6
2.4
100.6

Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Income tax receivables
Other receivables and other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets held for sale

4,748.8
1,582.0
2,096.1
36.1
407.7
523.9
103.0

4,435.3
1,481.7
2,220.0
31.4
327.5
373.8
0.9

Total assets

7,928.7

7,484.9

AS S E TS
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31/12/2012

30/09/2013

€m
Equity
Issued capital
Capital reserves
Revenue reserves
Revaluation reserves
Equity attributable to shareholders of Celesio AG
Non-controlling interests

2,195.9
217.7
1,186.0
1,091.2
–333.3
2,161.6
34.3

2,199.7
217.7
1,186.0
1,147.1
–385.8
2,165.0
34.7

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Pension provisions
Other non-current provisions
Other liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

5,732.8
2,379.1
1,916.0
345.1
71.0
8.2
38.8

5,285.2
2,080.1
1,656.9
294.2
62.9
7.5
58.6

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other current provisions
Income tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Liabilities held for sale

3,353.7
166.9
2,325.0
156.4
55.7
573.1
76.6

3,205.1
274.9
2,263.5
137.5
50.9
478.3
0.0

Total assets

7,928.7

7,484.9

E QUITY AN D L IABIL ITIE S
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Group statement of cash flows

1st to 3rd quarter

€m
Net profit from continuing operations
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of non-current
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
Result from associates accounted for using the equity method
and other equity investments
Dividends received
Financial result
Net result from the disposal of non-current assets and
subsidiaries
Impairment of operating assets
Change in deferred taxes and income taxes
Income taxes paid
Other non-cash income and expenses
Change in net operating assets
Change in inventories
Change in trade receivables
Change in trade payables
Change in other net operating assets
Change in other assets and other liabilities
Change in other assets
Change in other liabilities
Net cash flow from operating activities – continuing
operations
Net cash flow from operating activities – discontinued
operations
Net cash flow from operating activities – continuing and
discontinued operations
Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets
Capital expenditure on non-current assets
Proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries1)
Cash paid for business combinations

2012
80.2

2013
126.2

112.9

96.0

–5.9
9.2
130.7

–8.6
6.3
114.3

–5.6
40.5
77.2
–82.5
34.5
–132.5
107.1
–28.6
–202.0
–9.0
–98.4
–66.8
–31.6

0.0
33.7
71.4
–72.4
20.9
–191.1
40.8
–235.0
43.4
–40.3
–79.7
–31.5
–48.2

160.3

117.0

–12.0

5.2

148.3
15.8
–83.4
6.0
–256.6

122.2
9.8
–67.4
43.3
–2.2

1) This line reports the payments for all costs directly related to divestments of subsidiaries.
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1st to 3rd quarter

€m
Net cash flow from investing activities – continuing
operations
Net cash flow from investing activities – discontinued
operations
Net cash flow from investing activities – continuing and
discontinued operations
Payments made to shareholders (including non-controlling
interests)
Payments made in connection with the change in ownership
interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Interest paid
Interest received
Net cash flow from financing activities – continuing
operations
Net cash flow from financing activities – discontinued
operations
Net cash flow from financing activities – continuing and
discontinued operations
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Change in cash and cash equivalents not affecting cash
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
Cash and cash equivalents of discontinued operations and
disposal groups at the end of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
(according to the group statement of financial position)
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2012

2013

–318.2

–16.5

111.7

11.8

–206.5

–4.7

–43.9

–52.2

–1.1
492.0
–609.8
–81.7
6.9

0.0
158.0
–300.4
–72.6
5.4

–237.6

–261.8

2.6

0.0

–235.0
–293.2
12.3
448.3
167.4

–261.8
–144.3
–5.8
523.9
373.8

2.5

0.0

164.9

373.8

Group statement of cash flows
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Group statement of changes in equity

Issued capital

Capital
reserves

Revenue
reserves

€m
As of 1 January 2013
Dividends

217.7
0.0

1,186.0
0.0

1,091.2
–51.0

Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control
Changes to the consolidated group
Other comprehensive income
Net profit/loss
Comprehensive income
As of 30 September 2013

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
217.7

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1,186.0

0.0
–8.8
0.0
115.7
115.7
1,147.1

As of 31 December 2011
Revaluation of defined benefit pension plans
Adjusted balance as of 1 January 2012
Dividends

217.7
0.0
217.7
0.0

1,186.0
0.0
1,186.0
0.0

1,311.5
–20.0
1,291.5
–42.5

Change in ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control
Changes to the consolidated group
Other comprehensive income
Net profit/loss
Comprehensive income
Adjusted balance as of 30 September 2012

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
217.7

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1,186.0

–1.2
–0.4
0.0
–185.4
–185.4
1,062.0

1) Of which attributable to discontinued operations and disposal groups: € 0.0m (previous year € –10.0m).
2) Of which attributable to discontinued operations: € 0.0m (previous year € –10.4m).
3) Of which attributable to discontinued operations and disposal groups: € 0.0m (previous year € –20.4m).
4) Of which attributable to discontinued operations in the reporting period: € 0.0m (previous year € –0.2m).
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Revaluation reserves

Equity
attributable to
shareholders
of Celesio AG

Noncontrolling
interests

Equity

Translation
reserves

Revaluation of
defined
benefit plans

Asset
revaluation
reserves

Cash flow
Other
hedges comprehensive
income
attributable to
entities
measured
using the
equity method

–159.4
0.0

–151.6
0.0

0.0
0.0

–16.4
0.0

–5.9
0.0

2,161.6
–51.0

34.3
–1.2 ⁴

2,195.9
–52.2

0.0
0.0
–91.3
0.0
–91.3
–250.7 ¹

0.0
8.8
15.7
0.0
15.7
–127.1 ²

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
10.8
0.0
10.8
–5.6

0.0
0.0
3.5
0.0
3.5
–2.4

0.0
0.0
–61.3
115.7
54.4
2,165.0 ³

0.0
0.0
–3.5
5.1
1.6
34.7

0.0
0.0
–64.8
120.8
56.0
2,199.7

–148.4
0.0
–148.4
0.0

0.0
–90.1
–90.1
0.0

–0.4
0.0
–0.4
0.0

–20.8
0.0
–20.8
0.0

0.0
–1.1
–1.1
0.0

2,545.6
–111.2
2,434.4
–42.5

32.2
0.0
32.2
–1.6 ⁴

2,577.8
–111.2
2,466.6
–44.1

0.0
0.0
20.8
0.0
20.8
–127.6 ¹

0.0
0.0
–82.1
0.0
–82.1
–172.2 ²

0.0
0.4
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
1.7
0.0
1.7
–19.1

0.0
0.0
–5.1
0.0
–5.1
–6.2

–1.2
0.0
–64.7
–185.4
–250.1
2,140.6 ³

0.1
–1.1
–2.3
2.9
0.6
30.2

–1.1
–1.1
–67.0
–182.5
–249.5
2,170.8
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Selected explanatory notes to
the consolidated financial statements

Group segment reporting by division
1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R OF 2 0 13

€m
Income statement
Revenue
External revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Gross profit
EBITDA
Impairment losses recorded
on intangible assets and
property, plant and
equipment
EBIT
30 September 2013
Segment assets

052

Consumer
Solutions

Pharmacy
Solutions

Other

Consolidation

Group
(continuing
operations)

Discontinued
operations

2,514.8
2,514.6
0.2
864.3
188.8

13,476.5
13,476.5
0.0
881.9
272.5

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
– 61.7

– 0.2
0.0
– 0.2
0.0
– 0.3

15,991.1
15,991.1
0.0
1,746.2
399.3

19.1
19.1
0.0
2.9
0.3

– 1.1
142.0

0.0
232.7

0.0
– 71.1

0.0
– 0.3

– 1.1
303.3

0.0
0.3

1,989.1

2,086.0

– 53.7

– 0.1

4,021.3

0.0

Selected explanatory notes to the consolidated financial statements

Celesio Interim Report, 1st to 3rd Quarter of 2013

Group segment reporting by division
1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R OF 2 0 12

€m
Income statement
Revenue
External revenue
Inter-segment revenue
Gross profit
EBITDA
Impairment losses
recorded on intangible
assets and property, plant
and equipment
EBIT
30 September 2012
Segment assets

Consumer
Solutions

Pharmacy
Solutions

Other

Consolidation

Group
(continuing
operations)

Discontinued
operations

2,571.0
2,569.7
1.3
902.1
202.3

14,127.2
14,127.1
0.1
928.0
265.9

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
– 73.1

– 1.4
0.0
– 1.4
0.0
0.0

16,696.8
16,696.8
0.0
1,830.1
395.1

759.9
663.5
96.4
257.0
3.8

– 1.5
154.0

– 8.0
212.9

– 2.8
– 84.7

0.0
0.0

– 12.3
282.2

0.0
– 0.6

2,114.0

2,219.0

– 32.3

1.1

4,301.8

184.9

Please refer to  page 76 of the notes for further explanations and comments
on segment reporting.
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RE CON CIL IATION OF S E GM EN T RE VE N UE
FOR THE FIRS T TO THIRD QUARTE R

€m
Revenue of the reportable segments
Consolidation
Group revenue
RE CON CIL IATION OF S E GM EN T E ARN ING S
FOR THE FIRS T TO THIRD QUARTE R

€m
EBIT
Result from associates accounted for using the equity
method
Result from other investments
Interest expense
Interest income
Other financial result
Profit before tax from continuing operations
RE CON CIL IATION OF S E GM EN T AS S E TS

€m
Segment assets of the reportable segments
Consolidation
Segment assets of the group
+ Interest-bearing other financial assets
+ Non-current and current income tax receivables
+ Deferred tax assets
+ Other assets
+ Cash and cash equivalents
+ Assets of discontinued operations
– Other non-current provisions
– Other current provisions
– Trade payables
– Sundry liabilities
Total net assets
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2012

2013

16,698.2
– 1.4
16,696.8

15,991.3
– 0.2
15,991.1

2012

2013

282.2

303.3

1.3
4.6
– 141.3
6.3
4.3
157.4

3.7
4.9
– 109.2
5.8
– 10.9
197.6

30/09/2012

30/09/2013

4,300.7
1.1
4,301.8
34.4
36.4
157.6
2.2
164.9
74.4
81.7
144.8
2,331.3
635.4
7,964.9

4,021.4
– 0.1
4,021.3
46.6
33.8
100.6
1.1
373.8
0.0
62.9
137.5
2,263.5
443.8
7,484.9
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Accounting policies
The interim condensed consolidated report of Celesio AG for the first three
quarters of 2013, comprising the group income statement, group statement of
comprehensive income, group statement of financial position, group statement of
cash flows, group statement of changes in equity and selected explanatory notes
to the consolidated financial statements, is based on »International Accounting
Standard (IAS) 34 – Interim Financial Reporting«. All International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB), London, and endorsed by the European Union as of 30 September
2013 and all interpretations (IFRIC) of the International Financial Reporting
Standards Interpretation Committee were observed in the process of preparing the
interim condensed report. The accounting principles applied in the preparation of
the interim condensed report generally correspond to those applied in the annual
report as of 31 December 2012. Deviations from these accounting standards are
explained below. The condensed interim report should therefore be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of Celesio AG for the 2012
fiscal year.
The accounting standards applied for the consolidated financial statements of
2012 were also applied without change to the interim consolidated report. The
application of the amendments to »IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures –
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities« and »IAS 12 – Income Taxes –
Deferred Taxes: Recovery of Underlying Assets«, which became mandatory on
1 January 2013, did not result in any material changes to the interim financial
reporting. »IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement« which became mandatory on
1 January 2013 lays down the uniform treatment for measuring fair value and must
be applied prospectively. The impact of this standard is presented in a separate
section of the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Moreover, the
interim consolidated report considers »IAS 1 – Presentation of Other
Comprehensive Income (OCI)« which became mandatory for all reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2012. As a result there has been a change in the
presentation of other comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive
income and a separate presentation of other comprehensive income before and
after tax in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euro. All figures
are presented in million euros (€ m) unless otherwise indicated. We would like to
draw attention to the fact that differences may arise from use of amounts and
percentages rounded to the nearest whole number.

Adjustments to previous-year disclosures
The retrospective application of the revised version of »IAS 19 – Employee
Benefits« at the end of the 2012 fiscal year had a material impact on the
recognition and measurement of the defined benefit obligation. As a result, the
previous-year figures presented in this interim report were adjusted for the group
income statement, the group statement of comprehensive income, the group
statement of cash flows and the group statement of changes in equity to allow
comparison. For the first three quarters of 2012 the retrospective application
resulted primarily in a decrease in personnel expenses of € 4.5m and an increase in
interest expenses of € 4.9m. Otherwise there is a decrease in other expenses due
to an adjustment of € 8.0m to the impairment recorded in the previous year on the
Irish wholesale business which is classified as a disposal group. Taking account of
the corresponding tax impact, this results in an improvement to net profit/loss of
€ 8.0m. Other comprehensive income decreased by € 87.2m. Equity reported as of
30 September 2012 is down € 192.8m.
Another change lies in the presentation of comprehensive income. Since the
interim report for the first half year of 2013 currency translation differences
resulting from the individual line items of comprehensive income have been
presented net under the line item »Exchange differences« and, in particular, under
the line item »Foreign currency translation posted directly to other comprehensive
income«. Previously, currency translation differences were reported directly under
the various elements of other comprehensive income. The change in the
presentation of currency translation differences serves to make the statement of
other comprehensive income more informative. The change in the presentation
policy was applied retroactively. Adjustments to previous periods merely arose for
line items which may be subsequently recycled through profit or loss. Unrealised
gains and losses from derivative financial instruments used in cash flow hedges
rose by € 0.4m to € 2.1m. The foreign currency translation differences posted
directly to other comprehensive income decreased by € 0.4m to € 18.1m.
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Basis of consolidation
Business combinations and disposals in the first to third quarter of 2013
Business combinations
In the first three quarters of 2013, the Pharmacy Solutions division acquired
100% of the Brazilian company, Tele Action Servicos Ltda., a call centre provider,
and fully consolidated it accordingly.
Moreover, the Consumer Solutions division acquired all the shares in one retail
pharmacy in Norway and one retail pharmacy in Sweden in the course of
optimising its portfolio and fully consolidated it accordingly.
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The table below provides the significant details of the entities acquired in the
first three quarters of 2013:

€m
Consideration transferred
Purchase price payment
Contingent consideration
Shares previously recognised using the equity method
Revaluation of shares previously recognised using the equity method

Total
2.5
2.2
0.3
0.0
0.0

Cash purchase price

1.8

Fair value of assets and liabilities assumed
Total assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

0.8
0.1
0.2
0.1
0.4

Total liabilities
Other liabilities

0.5
0.5

Goodwill

2.2

Non-controlling interests

0.0

No significant incidental acquisition-related costs were incurred.
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The goodwill generally reflects the expected future cash flows that will be
generated by the business combinations and the expertise of the employees. It is
tax deductible up to an amount of € 1.2m.
Revenue attributable to the entities acquired in the first three quarters of 2013
amounts to € 0.4m and the net profit to € 0.3m. Had these entities been acquired
at the beginning of the fiscal year, they would have contributed € 1.5m to group
revenue and € 0.2m to the group’s net profit.
Change in contingent consideration
The contingent consideration recognised for acquisitions in accordance with
IFRS 3, which was revised in 2008 and has been mandatory since 2010, decreased
by € 0.3m in the first three quarters of 2013. The addition of a new contingent
consideration of € 1.1m is countered by the repayment of existing contingent
considerations of € 1.2m. Furthermore, the revaluation of an existing contingent
consideration resulted in a decrease of € 0.2m. The fair value adjustment of
contingent consideration is generally based on an earnings indicator and takes
account of the long-term planning. This did not give rise to any major changes in
the ranges in the first three quarters of 2013.
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Disposals
Four retail pharmacies in the UK and one retail pharmacy in Sweden were
disposed of in the first three quarters of 2013 in the course of streamlining the
portfolio.
Rudolf Spiegel GmbH and RSV-équipement SARL were also disposed of.
The consideration received amounted to € 2.0m (of which € 1.9m cash).
Assets of € 2.0m (mainly inventories and receivables) and liabilities of € 1.0m were
disposed of. Costs were incurred to make the sale, which also include transaction
costs. The gains on disposal totalled € 0.2m and were disclosed under other
income/expenses.
The disclosures on the deconsolidation of Movianto Ireland, which was
classified as a discontinued operation, and the wholesale business in Ireland, which
was classified as a disposal group, as well as the sale of Interim Holding GmbH,
which held the equity investment in pharmexx India, can be found in the section
on »Discontinued operations and disposal groups«.
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Business combinations and disposals in the first to third quarter of 2012
Business combinations
The table below provides the significant details of the entities acquired in the
first three quarters of 2012:
€m
Consideration transferred
Purchase price payment
Contingent consideration
Shares previously recognised using the equity method
Revaluation of shares previously recognised using the equity method

Total
1.9
0.0
1.0
1.1
– 0.2

Cash purchase price

– 0.4

Fair value of assets and liabilities assumed
Total assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

0.8
0.2
0.1
0.4
0.1

Total liabilities
Other liabilities

0.5
0.5

Goodwill

1.6

Non-controlling interests

0.0

Due to the fact that the fair value of the investment measured using the equity
method, which was already held by the Celesio Group prior to the date on which
control was obtained by the group, does not correspond to its carrying amount, a
loss of € 0.2m from revaluing shares was recognised in other income/expenses.
The fair value of the receivables acquired in the combination amounted to € 0.2m.
This contains trade receivables of € 0.1m. No valuation allowances were
recognised on these receivables. Thus the fair value corresponds to the amount
agreed on in the contracts.
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The goodwill generally reflects the expected future cash flows that will be
generated by the combination – including in some cases as a result of the leading
market position of the acquisition – and the expertise of the employees. The full
goodwill method was not applied.
Revenue attributable to the entities acquired in the first three quarters of 2012
amounted to € 2.7m and the net profit to € 0.2m in the previous-year period. Had
these entities been acquired at the beginning of the comparative period, the
entities would have contributed € 3.0m to group revenue. The contribution to the
group’s net profit would have been € 0.1m.
Disposals
The table below provides the significant details of the entities disposed of in
the first three quarters of 2012:
€m
Consideration received
Gain on disposal

Total
5.6
4.3

Total assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

23.5
0.4
0.6
15.6
1.4
5.5

Total liabilities
Financial liabilities
Trade payables
Other liabilities

22.4
1.4
7.5
13.5

The disclosures made in the comparative period of the previous year on the
deconsolidation of Movianto (not including Movianto Ireland) and Pharmexx,
which were classified as discontinued operations, can be found in the section on
»Discontinued operations and disposal groups«.
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Acquisition of the remaining shares in Panpharma
In the comparative period of the previous year, the Management Board of
Celesio AG decided to prematurely exercise the option to purchase the remaining
49.9% of the shares outstanding in Panpharma. Acquisition of the shares was fully
executed in May 2012. The consideration transferred amounted to € 258.2m, of
which € 253.3m was in cash. The last revaluation of the purchase price liability on
the exercise date resulted in recognition of additional goodwill of € 7.5m in the
previous period. The remainder of € 26.4m left after settling the purchase price
liability was expensed through profit or loss under the interest result.

Operational Excellence Program (OEP)
Further measures were initiated in the first three quarters of 2012 within the
framework of the OEP, which was started in the 2011 fiscal year to improve the
competitiveness and operating performance. Total net expenses of € 33.7m were
incurred in the comparative period of the previous year. At the end of the 2012
fiscal year, all the measures of the OEP had been concluded and no significant
expenses were incurred in the reporting period.

Discontinued operations and disposal groups
General remarks
As part of the radical strategic shake-up and streamlining of the portfolio,
Celesio announced in the previous year that it would initiate the sales process for a
number of companies and activities that no longer constitute the company’s core
business.
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Following careful scrutiny and analysis of the strategic options, the
Management Board of Celesio passed a resolution at the end of March 2012 to
dispose of the business areas Movianto (without the logistics operations in Austria)
and Pharmexx as well as the DocMorris mail-order pharmacy (including the brand),
previously disclosed under Consumer Solutions, and all Czech operations
(previously disclosed in the Pharmacy Solutions and Consumer Solutions
segments) before the end of 2012.
One aspect of the resolution was the decision to part with Manufacturer
Solutions completely. This reflects the focus on core business and the
determination to take the necessary structural and organisational steps. In
connection with the strategic realignment, a decision was taken to tackle the sales
channel conflict with pharmacists that arose specifically in Germany through the
acquisition of the DocMorris mail-order pharmacy in 2007. The decision was
therefore taken to sell the mail-order pharmacy, including the DocMorris brand.
The corresponding entities were classified as discontinued operations in 2012 from
the time the decision was reached up until the date of sale. The sale of the
Movianto business area, with the exception of Movianto Ireland, was completed
on 31 August 2012. The Pharmexx business area was sold on 12 September 2012.
The DocMorris mail-order pharmacy was sold on 30 November 2012.
The resolution mentioned above also included the strategic decision to
withdraw from the Czech market completely and therefore to sell the wholesale
and pharmacy business. The corresponding entities were classified as disposal
groups from the date of the decision until the date of sale. In the third quarter of
2012, Celesio successfully disposed of its operations in the Czech Republic effective
November 2012. The outstanding purchase price payment of € 32.6m was settled
in the first quarter of 2013.
A further decision was taken in the second quarter of 2012 to dispose of the
Irish wholesale business (disclosed in the Pharmacy Solutions segment). As a
result, this was also reported as a disposal group. In the second quarter of 2013
Celesio was able to conclude the sale of the Irish wholesale business and Movianto
Ireland, effective May 2013.
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Measurement effects and disposals
The entities classified as discontinued operations and disposal groups are
measured at fair value less costs to sell. The fair value is determined initially on the
basis of the sale and purchase agreements or purchase bids if suitably specific
offers were available for the comparative period. No impairment was recorded on
Movianto Ireland in the 2013 fiscal year. The profit or loss of the operation until
the date of deconsolidation is presented under the net loss from discontinued
operations. A gain from deconsolidation of € 0.5m arose at Movianto Ireland,
which is also reported under the net loss from discontinued operations. Likewise,
no impairment loss was recorded on the Irish wholesale business, reported as a
disposal group, in the 2013 fiscal year. The profit or loss of the operation until the
date of deconsolidation is presented under net profit from continuing operations.
A gain of € 0.4m arose upon the deconsolidation of the Irish wholesale business.
This is presented under net profit from continuing operations. Costs were incurred
to make the sale, most of which are transaction costs.
In the first three quarters of 2012 an impairment of € 47.0m was recorded on
the Pharmexx cash-generating unit, an impairment of € 61.1m for Movianto
including Movianto Ireland and an impairment of € 150.0m for the DocMorris
mail-order pharmacy and the brand. The additional disposal of translation reserves
through profit or loss resulted overall in a deconsolidation effect of € –55.8m for
Movianto (not including Movianto Ireland) as well as € –41.3m for Pharmexx.
These were presented under net loss from discontinued operations. Impairment
losses on disposal groups comprise an impairment loss of € 8.0m on the wholesale
business in the Czech Republic, an impairment of € 10.1m on the Irish wholesale
business (adjusted by € 8.0m due to the retrospective adoption of the revised
version of IAS 19 – Employee Benefits at the end of the 2012 fiscal year). This was
presented under net profit from continuing operations.
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Key information on the deconsolidation in the reporting period of Movianto
Ireland, which was classified as a discontinued operation, and the Irish wholesale
business, which was classified as a disposal group, can be summarised as follows:
Irish
wholesale
business
34.8
34.8
21.4

Movianto
Ireland

Total

10.0
10.0
6.1

44.8
44.8
27.5

0.4

0.5

0.9

Total assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

98.9
0.0
0.0
1.1
19.2
56.6
10.9
11.1

54.4
0.0
0.0
0.0
9.9
39.6
0.0
4.9

153.3
0.0
0.0
1.1
29.1
96.2
10.9
16.0

Total liabilities
Financial liabilities
Pension provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Trade payables
Other current provisions
Other liabilities

66.6
0.0
1.1
0.5
49.9
0.4
14.7

46.0
0.0
0.0
0.2
39.7
0.2
5.9

112.6
0.0
1.1
0.7
89.6
0.6
20.6

€m
Consideration received
of which expected to affect cash
of which already cash
Gain on disposal
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Key information on disclosures made in the comparative period of the previous
year on the deconsolidation of Movianto (not including Movianto Ireland) and
Pharmexx can be summarised as follows.
Movianto
163.2

Pharmexx
47.9

Total
211.1

Profit/loss from deconsolidation
Gain on disposal
Impairment loss already recognised

– 55.8
– 3.1
– 52.7

– 41.3
5.7
– 47.0

– 97.1
2.6
– 99.7

Total assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets

316.3
35.8
58.3
1.2
12.3
123.3
39.1
46.3

75.3
29.2
1.0
0.8
1.3
17.7
6.5
18.8

391.6
65.0
59.3
2.0
13.6
141.0
45.6
65.1

Total liabilities
Financial liabilities
Pension provisions
Other non-current provisions
Deferred tax liabilities
Trade payables
Other current provisions
Income tax liabilities
Other liabilities

166.8
1.6
1.2
2.1
1.3
128.3
1.9
0.4
30.0

30.2
1.1
0.0
0.0
3.0
4.0
4.0
1.2
16.9

197.0
2.7
1.2
2.1
4.3
132.3
5.9
1.6
46.9

€m
Consideration received
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The main asset and liability groups held for sale are summarised below:

Assets held for
sale

31/12/2012
Disposal group
Discontinued
Irish wholesale
operations
business
Movianto
Ireland

30/09/2013
Assets and Assets held for
liabilities held
sale
for sale

€m
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other assets
Assets

1.3
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1.3

0.0
25.1
38.2
1.1
7.6
72.0

0.0
7.3
18.1
0.0
4.3
29.7

1.3
32.4
56.3
1.1
11.9
103.0

0.9
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.9

Trade payables
Other liabilities
Equity and liabilities

0.0
0.0
0.0

28.4
12.9
41.3

34.4
0.9
35.3

62.8
13.8
76.6

0.0
0.0
0.0

Property with a carrying amount of € 0.4m (previous year: € 0.7m) was
disclosed as non-current assets held for sale in the Pharmacy Solutions division
and property of € 0.5m in the Consumer Solutions division (previous year: € 0.6m).
As an element of the 2012 divestment program, the shares in the Pharmexx
Group were sold as a part of the discontinued Manufacturer Solutions division.
Due to a lack of control, csmo nextierr Private Limited (previously trading under
the name of CSMO pharmexx (India) Pvt., Ltd.), which was not sold along with the
Pharmexx Group, deconsolidated and carried as another investment pursuant to
IAS 39 as of 31 December 2012 as the group did not have any significant influence
over the entity. The investment in csmo nextierr Private Limited was sold in the
second quarter of 2013 to the strategic investor, Parazelsus Orient Pte Ltd,
Singapore. The impairment loss recorded on the investment in the first quarter of
2013 resulted in a loss on the measurement of discontinued operations of € 0.2m.
Moreover, the profit after tax from discontinued operations contains the profit or
loss from the business activities up until the deconsolidation of Movianto Ireland
plus additional deconsolidation effects of € 0.5m. Other risks arising upon the
disposal are also reported under net loss from discontinued operations.
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The net loss from discontinued operations breaks down as follows:

1 S T TO 3 RD QUARTE R

€m
Revenue
Cost of materials
Gross profit
EBITDA
EBIT
Profit/loss before tax from discontinued
operations
Income taxes
Profit/loss after tax from discontinued
operations
Profit/loss after tax from the
measurement and disposal of
discontinued operations
Net loss from discontinued operations

Total

DocMorris
mail-order
pharmacy and
brand

Pharmexx

Movianto

2012
239.0
– 200.7
38.3
– 0.1
– 1.0

2012
103.9
– 1.8
102.1
– 0.5
– 1.6

2012
320.6
– 204.0
116.6
4.4
2.0

2012
663.5
– 406.5
257.0
3.8
– 0.6

2013
19.1
– 16.2
2.9
0.3
0.3

– 2.4
0.0

– 2.2
– 2.9

2.4
– 2.1

– 2.2
– 5.0

0.3
0.0

– 2.4

– 5.1

0.3

– 7.2

0.3

– 150.0
– 152.4

– 41.3
– 46.4

– 64.2
– 63.9

– 255.5
– 262.7

– 5.7
– 5.4
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Contingent liabilities and other financial obligations
Guarantees and warranties issued as of 30 September 2013 came to € 109.3m
(31 December 2012 € 139.6m). The decrease of € 30.3m is mainly due to the
reduction of warranties in the UK wholesale business.
The other financial obligations presented in the consolidated financial
statements as of 31 December 2012 did not change materially in the first three
quarters of 2013.
Contingent liabilities recognised for legal and tax risks in connection with the
business combination with Panpharma in 2009 amounted to € 35.5m as of
30 September 2013 (31 December 2012 € 46.3m). The reduction is primarily
attributable to legal and tax risks becoming statute barred and arrangements
reached with the tax authorities as well as currency effects. To cover these legal
and tax risks, an agreement has been entered into with the former owners limiting
reimbursement claims to a maximum amount.
The reimbursement claims were reported as receivables from the previous
shareholders under current and non-current assets respectively and have generally
decreased in line with the contingent liabilities for legal and tax risks. To secure
these claims, Celesio has access to assets of the former owners held in trust and
other possibilities to offset the claims as well as the collateral granted. These
contingent liabilities have been divided into current and non-current provisions
based on their maturity. The contingent liabilities contain income tax liabilities of
€ 3.0m (31 December 2012 € 4.0m).
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Fair value measurement
The following table summarises the carrying amounts and the fair value of
each category of asset and liability:
30/09/2013

AS S E TS

€m
Available-for-sale financial assets – equity instruments
Available-for-sale financial assets – debt instruments
Loans to investments
Other loans
Other financial assets
Other non-current assets

Fair values

58.2
3.7
14.4
32.2
108.5
51.6

58.2
3.7
14.3
31.7
107.9
51.6

30/09/2013
Carrying
amounts
Fair values

E QUITY AN D L IABIL ITIE S

€m
Liabilities to banks
Promissory notes and bonds
Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Non-current financial liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Liabilities to banks
Promissory notes and bonds
Lease liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities
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Carrying
amounts

34.3
1,610.6
8.4
3.6
1,656.9
7.5
101.8
165.6
3.3
4.2
274.9

38.6
1,768.5
8.4
3.5
1,819.0
7.3
101.9
168.7
3.3
4.1
278.0
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If the carrying amount represents an appropriate approximate value for the
fair value, the fair value is not stated in the table.
Available-for-sale financial assets mainly comprise investments in entities that
are not listed on a public exchange and over which the group has neither control
nor the ability to exercise a significant influence. If there is no active market for
these financial assets, they are measured at amortised cost. As of 30 September
2013, investments in entities not listed on a public exchange with a carrying
amount of € 57.3m were measured at amortised cost for that reason.
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Celesio applies the following fair value hierarchy to define and present its
assets and liabilities measured at fair value:
Level 1: Quoted prices on an active market for identical assets and liabilities
Level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities or other
valuation techniques, the inputs of which are based on observable market
data
Level 3: Valuation techniques in which all the relevant inputs are not based on
observable market data
The following table presents the fair value of assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position, broken down by measurement category:
Assets measured at fair value
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

4.6

0.0

0.0

4.6

0.0

1.1

0.0

1.1

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

0.0

31.7

0.0

31.7

0.0
0.0

10.3
0.0

0.0
0.3

10.3
0.3

€m
Fair value measurement on a recurring basis
Available-for-sale financial assets
Derivative financial instruments – not designated as
hedging instruments

Liabilities measured at fair value

€m
Fair value measurement on a recurring basis
Derivative financial instruments – designated as
hedging instruments
Derivative financial instruments – not designated as
hedging instruments
Other liabilities
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There were no reclassifications of assets and liabilities measured at fair value
on a recurring basis between level 1 and level 2 in the reporting period and no
reclassifications to or from level 3.
The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded on an active
market is determined by reference to listed bid prices at the end of the reporting
period. In level 2 and 3 assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis are determined using the DCF method. This involves discounting the cash
flows expected from the financial instruments using market interest rates for
instruments of a similar term. Celesio accounts for the credit rating of the
respective debtor by means of credit value adjustments (CVA) or debt value
adjustments (DVA). Where possible, the CVAs and DVAs are determined from
observable prices for credit derivatives on the market.
Level 3 liabilities consist of liabilities from business combinations made after
1 January 2010 that were measured on the basis of earnings indicators as well as
the assumptions and estimates of management. Please see  page 59 for a
reconciliation of these liabilities measured at fair value to level 3 instruments from
the beginning of the reporting period to the end of the reporting period.
The fair value measurement on a recurring basis of the level 3 assets and
liabilities held on the reporting date did not give rise to any gains and losses.

Other comprehensive income after tax
The line items of other comprehensive income after tax – including noncontrolling interests – developed as follows:
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1st to 3rd quarter of 2012
before tax
tax

€m
Items that will not be recycled
through profit or loss
Revaluation of defined benefit
pension plans
Share in the revaluation of defined
benefit pension plans attributable to
associates accounted for using the
equity method
Items that may subsequently be
recycled through profit or loss
Unrealised gains/losses from the
current year
Gains/losses recycled through
profit or loss
Unrealised gains/losses from marking
available-for-sale financial assets to
market
Unrealised gains/losses from the
current year
Gains/losses recycled through
profit or loss
Unrealised gains/losses from
derivative financial instruments to
hedge cash flows
Foreign currency translation
posted directly to other
comprehensive income
Release to profit or loss due to
loss of control
Currency translation differences
Other comprehensive income

after tax

1st to 3rd quarter of 2013
before tax
tax

after tax

– 103.0

20.9

– 82.1

23.7

– 18.5

5.2

– 5.1

/

– 5.1

3.5

/

3.5

– 0.1

0.0

– 0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.1

0.0

0.1

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

– 8.6

1.1

– 7.5

2.8

– 0.8

2.0

11.8

– 2.2

9.6

11.5

– 3.0

8.5

3.2

– 1.1

2.1

14.3

– 3.8

10.5

20.1

/

20.1

– 84.0

/

– 84.0

– 2.0
18.1
– 86.8

/
/
19.8

– 2.0
18.1
– 67.0

0.0
– 84.0
– 42.5

/
/
– 22.3

0.0
– 84.0
– 64.8
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Notes to the segment reporting
Segmentation is based on the internal reporting structure and is divided into
two divisions, Consumer Solutions (previously Patient and Consumer Solutions)
and Pharmacy Solutions. These divisions form the basis for the internal controlling
by the Management Board and thus correspond to the reportable segments.
The Management Board of Celesio AG is the chief operating decision maker
referred to in IFRS 8.7. The divisions of Celesio AG can be described as follows:

•

•

•
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The Consumer Solutions division is aimed at patients and consumers. This
covers the entire logistics chain, from purchasing merchandise through to
selling to end consumers. The division mainly encompasses the retail
pharmacies, mail-order pharmacies and brand partnerships. In Consumer
Solutions a distinction was still made in the 2012 fiscal year between the
operating segments, International Retail and LloydsPharmacy, which were
combined for segment reporting. At the end of the 2012 fiscal year, the
International Retail operating segment was split up on account of a
reorganisation of its organisational and reporting structure and defined by
country, similar to the wholesale business. These were also combined for the
purposes of segment reporting. In addition, the division contains our
investment in Brocacef Holding N.V. in the Netherlands, which is reported as an
associate.
The Pharmacy Solutions division focuses on wholesale business with external
customers. The operating segments in this division have likewise been
combined at country level. Starting in the 2012 fiscal year, logistics solutions
activities in Austria are reported in this segment. Until it was sold in September
2013, the Pharmacy Solutions division also included Rudolf Spiegel Versand for
pharmacy and laboratory equipment and Inten, and still includes the property
developer for pharmacies.
The Others division is primarily used to report the activities of the group's
parent, Celesio AG, and other companies not directly attributable to operating
activities. Celesio AG holds investments in the major operating national
companies and national holdings. In addition, the operating entities of the
Celesio Group are primarily financed via Celesio AG and Celesio Finance B.V.,
Netherlands. Moreover, Celesio AG bundles essential group functions,
primarily in the fields of accounting, controlling, treasury and IT.
Consolidation of intra-group activities is shown separately.
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The Management Board takes EBIT under IFRSs as a measure of the success of
the segments. EBIT is defined as earnings before interest, taxes and investment
result. In addition, information on the gross profit and EBITDA is disclosed
voluntarily.
Segment assets pursuant to IFRS 8 correspond with the tied capital, which is
calculated as the sum of the carrying amount of all non-interest-bearing assets
(except for income tax assets) less non-interest-bearing liabilities (except for
income tax liabilities).
The same accounting standards as for the Celesio Group have been used in
segment reporting. Intercompany transactions are measured at market prices.

Related party transactions
Related parties as defined by IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures) are legal
entities and natural persons who can exercise significant influence or control over
Celesio AG and its subsidiaries or, alternatively, are subject to the control or
significant influence of Celesio AG or its subsidiaries. This includes the majority
shareholder, Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Duisburg, Germany, and its subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates. In addition, related parties include the joint
ventures, associates and members of the boards of Celesio AG.
All transactions with related parties are conducted at arm’s length.
There are management and service agreements in place with Franz Haniel &
Cie. GmbH and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.
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Likewise, there are ongoing business relationships with joint ventures and
associates that entail but are not limited to supplies of merchandise.
The goods and services received from or supplied to related parties are
summarised below:

Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH
Duisburg

€m
Loans and receivables
Liabilities

31/12/2012

30/09/2013

0.0
0.9

0.3
0.0

Franz Haniel & Cie. GmbH
Duisburg

€m
Income
Expenses

2012

2013

0.1
0.2

0.3
0.0

On 3 July 2013, Markus Pinger was dismissed from his position as member of
the Management Board of Celesio AG with immediate effect and his appointment
as chairman of the Management Board revoked. His current employment contract
with the company ends on 14 August 2014. In connection with the settlement of
the contractual claims resulting from the employment contract, termination
benefits of € 4.0m were recognised under personnel expenses in accordance with
IAS 24.17d). Of this amount, € 0.4m is attributable to pension commitments.
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Subsidiaries of Franz
Joint ventures and
Haniel & Cie. GmbH associates of Franz Haniel
& Cie. GmbH

Joint ventures and
associates
of Celesio AG

31/12/2012

30/09/2013

31/12/2012

30/09/2013

31/12/2012

30/09/2013

0.1
0.0

0.1
0.0

0.0
0.2

0.0
0.0

2.1
0.0

1.7
0.0

Subsidiaries of Franz
Joint ventures and
Haniel & Cie. GmbH associates of Franz Haniel
& Cie. GmbH

Joint ventures and
associates of Celesio AG

2012

2013

2012

2013

2012

2013

0.0
0.3

0.0
0.2

0.0
1.2

0.0
1.0

13.9
0.0

7.7
0.0
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Employees
At the end of the third quarter of 2013 Celesio employed 28,668 full-time
equivalents (previous year 30,838). Due to the conclusion of the divestment
program, as of the reporting date there were no longer any employees at those
entities that were reported as discontinued operations since the first quarter of
2012. In the previous year there were 1,780 employees at such operations.

Other notes
The other financial result includes changes in the fair value of derivatives used
to hedge financial liabilities. Marking these instruments to market in the reporting
period did not result in any change in the value of derivatives used to hedge
interest exposures (previous year income of € 0.1m). Changes in the market values
of derivative exchange rate hedges gave rise to expenses of € 12.8m (previous year
expenses of € 2.2m). Moreover, the other financial result contains exchange rate
gains of € 134.5m (previous year € 159.1m) and exchange rate losses of € 134.1m
(previous year € 154.4m). No impairment was recorded on loan receivables
(previous year € 0.7m) in the fiscal year. By contrast, other financial income also
contains income of € 1.5m (previous year € 2.4m) from loan receivables that had
been written down.
Celesio took out a new syndicated loan agreement for € 500.0m on 12
February 2013. This syndicated bank loan agreement matures on 12 February 2018
and replaces the previous syndicated loan agreement of € 600.0m, which had
expired.
In accordance with the proposal for the appropriation of profits for 2012, a
dividend of € 51.0m or € 0.30 per share (previous year € 42.5m or €0.25 per share)
was distributed to the shareholders of Celesio AG in 2013.
There were no other issues requiring reporting in the interim reporting period.
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Subsequent events
On 24 October 2013, Dragonfly GmbH & Co. KGaA (the Bidder), a wholly
owned indirect subsidiary of McKesson Corp., San Francisco, USA, in accordance
with Sec. 10 (5) Sentence 2 WpÜG [“Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz”:
Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act], announced its decision to make a
takeover bid pursuant to Sec. 10 (1) in conjunction with Secs. 29 (1), (34) WpÜG to
the shareholders of Celesio AG, Stuttgart, at a price of € 23 per share. The decision
was published on 24 October 2013 in accordance with Sec. 10 (3) WpÜG.
Furthermore, the Bidder will submit public takeover bids to the holders of the
bonds issued by Celesio and will bid € 53,117.78 for every convertible bond that
falls due in October 2014 (ISIN DE 000A1AN5K5) with a nominal value of € 50,000
and € 120,798.32 for every convertible bond that falls due in April 2018 (ISIN DE
000A1GPH50) with a nominal value of € 100,000.
Under a share purchase agreement concluded between McKesson and Franz
Haniel & Cie. GmbH, Celesio’s majority shareholder, McKesson undertook to
acquire the investment in Celesio from Haniel. This amounts to 50.01% of the
shares currently issued by the company. The board of McKesson and the
Supervisory Board of Haniel approved the share purchase agreement. Haniel’s
share purchase as well as the acquisition/takeover bid are subject to certain
conditions, among which supervisory approval and a minimum acceptance
threshold of 75% of Celesio’s shares on a diluted basis, i.e., taking into account in
particular any convertible bonds of Celesio’s issued shares.
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At the same time, McKesson Corp., San Francisco, USA, and Celesio AG
concluded a business combination agreement. With this agreement, McKesson
and Celesio aim to become one of the world’s leading integrated pharmaceutical
groups with a leading market position in America and Europe. The Management
Board and Supervisory Board of Celesio AG welcome the takeover bid and will
support it, subject to approval of the documentation. The members of the
Management Board intend to accept the takeover bid for the shares they hold in
Celesio.

Stuttgart, 8 November 2013

The Management Board
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Review report

To Celesio AG, Stuttgart
We have reviewed the interim condensed consolidated financial statements,
comprising the group income statement, the group statement of comprehensive
income, the group statement of financial position, the group statement of cash
flows, the group statement of changes in equity and selected explanatory notes,
and the interim group management report of Celesio AG, Stuttgart, for the period
from 1 January 2013 to 30 September 2013, which are part of the quarterly
financial report pursuant to Sec. 37x (3) WpHG [“Wertpapierhandelsgesetz”:
German Securities Trading Act]. The preparation of the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs on interim financial
reporting as adopted by the EU and of the interim group management report in
accordance with the requirements of the WpHG applicable to interim group
management reports is the responsibility of the company’s management. Our
responsibility is to issue a review report on the interim condensed consolidated
financial statements and the interim group management report based on our
review.
We conducted our review of the interim condensed consolidated financial
statements and the interim group management report in accordance with German
generally accepted standards for the review of financial statements promulgated
by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW, Institute of Public Auditors in Germany).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the review to obtain a certain
level of assurance in our critical appraisal to preclude that the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements have not been prepared, in all material respects,
in accordance with IFRSs on interim financial reporting as adopted by the EU and
that the interim group management report has not been prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the applicable provisions of the WpHG. A review is
limited primarily to making inquiries of company personnel and applying analytical
procedures and thus does not provide the assurance that we could obtain from an
audit of financial statements. In accordance with our engagement, we have not
performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.
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Based on our review nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the interim condensed consolidated financial statements have not
been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IFRSs on interim
financial reporting as adopted by the EU and that the interim group management
report has not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the
provisions of the WpHG applicable to interim group management reports.

STUTTGART, 11 NOVEMBER 2013

Ernst & Young GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Marbler
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]
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Matischiok
Wirtschaftsprüfer
[German Public Auditor]
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Financial calendar

Annual report 2013
18 March 2013
Analyst and investor conference
18 March 2014
Quarterly financial report as of 30 March 2014
13 May 2014
Annual general meeting 2014
15 May 2014
Half-year financial report as of 30 June 2014
12 August 2014
Quarterly financial report as of 30 September 2014
13 November 2014
(Excerpt)

Subject to amendment. Other dates and updates can be found at Celesio.com
under Investor Relations/Financial calendar.
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Contacts

Celesio AG
Neckartalstrasse 155
70376 Stuttgart
Germany
Tel
+49 711.50 01 00
Fax
+49 711.50 01 12 60
service@celesio.com
www.celesio.com
Investor Relations
Markus Georgi, Director Investor Relations, +49 711.50 01 12 08
investor@celesio.com
Michael Otto, Manager Investor Relations, +49 711.50 01 635
investor@celesio.com

This interim report was published on 13 November 2013. It is available in German
and English and can be downloaded from the investor relations section of
celesio.com or a printed copy can be ordered there. The German version of the
annual report is legally binding.
This interim report was produced using the financial reporting system FIRE.sys.
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Forward-looking statements
This interim report contains forward-looking statements that are based on the
latest estimates made by the management of future developments. Such
statements are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties. It lies beyond the
powers of Celesio to control or precisely estimate these risks and uncertainties
which can include future market conditions and economic environment, state
intervention, the behaviour of other market players or the successful integration of
corporate acquisitions and realisation of expected synergies. Should one of these
or another uncertainty or risk factor eventuate or should the assumptions on
which these forward-looking statements are made prove to be incorrect, then the
actual events could diverge significantly from the explicit or implied events
contained in the statements. Celesio does not intend, nor does it assume any
special obligation, to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or
developments occurring after this report went to press.
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